1950

Hubert Wolfe, Shirley Wolfe, Elliott Wolfe, Kayla Wolfe, Merrill Strong, Wolfe's Department Store v. Sarah White and James L. White : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

In the Supreme Court of the State of Utah

HUBERT WOLFE, SHIRLEY WOLFE,
his wife, ELLIOTT WOLFE, KAYLA
WOLFE and MERRILL STRONG, co-
partners, doing business under the firm
name and style of WOLFE'S DEPART-
MENT STORE, and WOLFE'S DE-
PARTMENT STORE, a co-partnership,

Plaintiffs and Respondents

vs.

SARAH WHITE and JAMES L. WHITE,
her husband,

Defendants and Appellants.

Case No.
7431

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

STATEMENT

The principal question presented in this case is whether an unqualified agreement between landlord and tenant that the latter, for a recited valuable consideration accepts the premises, including an old building, "in the condition and state of repair they are now in," is a valid covenant, enforceable between the contracting parties; and whether a covenant to keep such condition imposes a duty to change it.

HISTORY OF LITIGATION

A brief history of this case will be of assistance in showing how the points here presented arise.

The case was filed by respondents on a complaint (1), which, as then filed, alleged a basis for claim, (a) the lease between the parties, (b) defective construction or insufficiency of the roof drain, and (c) that the roof supports were inadequate, both as to "design and construction." It alleged the duty of appellants to *put* both in good condition, and our delict of such duty.

A demurrer (22) and a motion to strike (24) were filed. The former raised the effect of the acceptance of conditions complained of by the covenant of respondents, *and that no change in the roof had been alleged*; and the motion to strike, challenged a number of allegations, particularly including the reference to the requirements of Salt Lake City. It raised the grounds that the ordinance pleaded and the expressions of opinion showed no requirement by public officials, and that, as between the parties, the assertions by City authorities had no bearing or materiality, and imposed no legal duty on us.

After these were argued, respondents filed a bill of particulars (30). This is largely argument. It was apparently treated as an addition to the complaint, but has been ignored.

Thereafter, and to meet the ground raised by the general demurrer, respondents filed an amendment to the complaint (36). This alleged a number of substantial

changes in the condition of the roof structure, after the building had been accepted in the condition it was in, and before respondents went into possession on June 6, 1946. As stated by this Court, in its opinion on first appeal (197 P. 2d 125, at 130), "the plaintiffs do not, at any point in their complaint, indicate that the roof was not in 'good condition and repair' on that day." The opinion then points out that the letter of the City Bureau of Inspection to respondents, pleaded (18), pointed out "what the defects are, and indicates also that the roof drainage system had proved inadequate." Also, "that at no time in either of the letters is there any determination as to when the condition first developed, or as to how long it has existed."

The opinion then (at p. 131) points out, at some length, the allegations of this amendment to the complaint as to changes in the condition of the building, after it was accepted by respondents. We quote as follows (p. 131):

"The plaintiffs by their amended complaint allege that:

"* * * after the lease was entered into the roof commenced to sag * * * which sagging gradually became worse. * * * that in January 1946 the plaintiffs first learned that the roof was actually dangerous and unsafe * * * that *the said roof was unsafe and was not in good condition and repair at that time in January 1946, (not date of lease) and became progressively worse so that when plaintiffs were to take physical possession of the property the roof had*

become so unsafe as to be dangerous to life and limb * * * that *the sagging* of the roof *became progressively worse* and the roof was dangerous and unsafe because of the matters and things heretofore set forth and because of the * * * (Here the complaint sets out the exact defects), * * * and on or about June 7, 1946 by reason of said conditions *the roof had become dangerous and unsafe* * * * that plaintiffs do not know when the said roof first became dangerous and unsafe but the said unsafe condition *became progressively worse from the date of said lease* * * *’ (Italics added.)

“The pleadings obviously refer to conditions *after* the execution of the lease.”

Obviously, this Court attached great importance to these allegations of changes in conditions of the building.

The reference in the opinion to the conditions pointed out by the City Inspector on April 29, 1946, is to a letter of that date (18), which states “that the trusses were not adequate both as to design and as to erection. Also, that the main ceiling beams both for the front and rear part of the store are sagged and are evidently too light to carry the roof load. Also that the roof drainage system has proved to be inadequate.”

These encompassed all of the conditions objected to. This letter also points out, after stating the opinion of the authorities, the full measure of any action taken or indicated by them. It said: “These factors make it mandatory upon me to refuse to allow continued occupancy of this structure beyond this summer season for fear of future heavy snow loading which might cause total beam

and truss failure and consequent collapse of the roof structure.”

These opinions of the City authorities, while they were used throughout the trial to greatly influence the jury, were finally removed from the case, as a basis of duty or liability, by an instruction of the court (149), and are no longer of importance as constituting any basis of right or duty.

This instruction was that the responsibility of the defendants was not to be determined “by any act or finding of the building inspector . . . the defendants’ only obligation was, as provided in the lease, to keep the roof of said building in good condition and repair.” While the jury were also told, in different ways, by the Court repeatedly that “keep,” as used, meant “put” in good condition, this instruction eliminated any issue as to “official requirements.” It is the law of the case.

After this amendment, the demurrer was renewed as to the complaint, as amended (43), and a new motion to strike (44) was filed. The demurrer raised the same matters. The motions to strike were directed to three alleged matters: (1) the intimated official requirements (2) the alleged oral statements made prior to the execution of the lease, and (3) the alleged changes in condition, after its execution. As stated, (1) is now out. No evidence was offered on (2). And, the motion as to (3), on the grounds urged both in the Court below and here, are not now vital, for the reasons referred to below, in the argument.

There was also, incidentally, a motion to strike the allegation that defendant James White drew the lease. Since there is no ambiguity in the lease, no rule of construction as to this is involved. This record shows, incidentally, that Mr. Wolfe was well able to take care of himself.

Thereafter, this general demurrer was again sustained, and the special demurrers and motions to strike were overruled (49). The respondents stood on these pleadings, and the first appeal was taken (60).

On appeal, as cited above, the opinion of this Court reversed the Trial Court, apparently by reason of the allegations of changes in the conditions after the lease, as above quoted, from page 131 of this Court's opinion, and influenced perhaps by reason of the fact that it was then assumed that the alleged "acts or findings" of the City Inspector constituted "requirements of public authorities," as discussed at pages 130 and 131 of the opinion.

On trial of the case, as indicated by instructions which will be hereinafter referred to, the trial went upon the general theory that our liability had been settled by this Court, and that the matter for trial was the amount of damage we should pay.

We proceeded with the trial, expecting that some evidence of change in structure would be introduced, pursuant to the amendment to the complaint. This amendment was used, however, merely for the purpose of getting past the demurrer and appeal. No evidence was

introduced of any change, after the lease was signed and before the building was torn out.

We, on the other hand, introduced some evidence, and the evidence generally showed, without contradiction, that there had been no change. The Trial Court took the position that he understood the decision of this Court was to the effect that the covenant to "keep" the roof in good repair meant that we were to "put" it in such repair, both as to the drainage system and roof support, and the case was so ruled. (See instructions, 144-147, 153-154, and, also, the form of verdict, 165).

Our requests for special interrogatories on the point as to whether there had been any change, was denied (116). As were, also, our motions (972) and our requests for a directed verdict (118), and our other requests to submit the question of change, if any, to the jury (See 119, 121, 123).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts material to an understanding of the questions raised on appeal will be stated as concisely as possible. These are, for the most part, not in dispute. Some matters which were in dispute, were within the province of the jury to determine, and are not material here.

The building involved here, except the rear or west wall, and the balcony joined thereto, was constructed about 1902 (689). In 1922, it was remodeled under the supervision of Miles Miller, architect (689). So that

the building, at the time this lease was entered into, was about 43 years old, and, at the time of the expiration of the lease, would be 63 years old. The defendant Mrs. White acquired it about January 1, 1943.

The remodeling in 1922 and 1923 was by the Hal-loran Judge Trust Company, and was for the purpose of occupancy by the J. C. Penney Store, which occupied it until about 1936 (781). A new roof thereon was installed in May of 1937, after Penney's moved out, by the Layton Roofing Company of Salt Lake City (781), preparatory to which some of the sheathing had been taken off, and the underneath roof structure examined (782), and tests made as to the vibration and strength of the understructure (783).

At that time, or thereafter, it was leased to Stewart Novelty Company, which, by the terms of the lease, occupied it until about June 6, 1946 (802).

The lease here involved was executed February 19, 1945, to commence March 7, 1945, and, under which, respondents were to take possession June 6, 1946. This lease is set out in full in the opinion of this Court on former appeal (197 P. 2d 125).

The first question as to the roof arose in July or August of 1945 (536), when respondents became dissatisfied with the roof drain system, as he testified (542), and kept insisting that Mr. White "assume the responsibility for diverting this drain." Respondent claimed that the drain was not carrying the water sufficiently

away, so that some was getting into an unexcavated portion of the basement, from which some allegedly seeped through the foundation into the basement, and he proposed two plans for correcting this (792).

The plan he wanted was to tap the roof drain under the floor of the building, at the western extremity of the building, and then run a pipe through the basement, and discharge the water at the front of the building (792). Respondent said he wanted to have a "free flow of rain water away from the building as . . . the function of any roof" (610).

On the change proposed by respondent, he employed a roofer, and communicated that fact to appellant (541). On October 9, 1945, appellant wrote a letter (Ex. "H") to respondent, stating that he had had "the flashings of the roof fixed, and the Utah Roof Cement Company advises that the roof is now in good shape." Mr. B. T. Cannon, the manager of that company, testified to this, and that he had made the examination and check of the roof, as referred to in this letter (785). That it was then in good condition.

Under date of November 12, 1945, respondent obtained from a Mr. Ferguson figures for making the drain changes proposed. These are contained in Ex. 18, addressed to Mr. White. They included additional pipe, and other equipment, and a drain or drip gutter at the rear of the building. The total cost of this proposed change, as stated therein, was \$485.86.

Respondent testified that Mr. White said that he would not go for it, but did offer to make a compromise to go 50-50, and that respondent told him "that it was a small item; if I thought the roof was my responsibility, I would fix it myself" (542). Mr. White testified that respondent did ask him to pay the amount of the bill, and that he asked respondent if he did not remember the discussion at the time the lease between them was made, in which Mr. White said that he was confident that if he cared to go to the expense and trouble of partitioning the store, he would get \$1,200.00 monthly rent instead of the \$600.00, as provided in the lease for the first ten years, and that he was leasing it "as is" to avoid the work and expense "that had to be done to make this old building into a modern store" (795). That it was not "his duty to reconstruct" the drain system (697). That conversation was in November of 1945, seven months before occupancy.

Except for the testimony of respondent and architect Paulson that they were in and out of the building during 1945 and early 1946, to make measurements, etc., the next testimony in the record is that Mr. Paulson had determined to get rid of the floor radiators, about 7 in number, that were in the store, and to insulate the attic for heating purposes (293). That he went into the attic in January of 1946, and concluded that the roof or ceiling structure would not support the additional 4 lbs. per square foot, which this insulation would impose (294).

On January 15, 1946, he wrote to Mr. Wolfe (Ex. 7), hereinabove referred to, as to the drain, and also said that the "trussed rafters which form the roof framing are way undersized for the load they now carry. The girders between the columns at the rear are also under sized." Further he said, "The skylights greatly weaken the roof, same should be done away with and the trusses carried through present area occupied by the skylights."

The testimony of architect Miller, as referred to, was that prior to the remodeling job in 1922 there had been 9 skylights. That 3 were then taken out and trussed through, and that 6 remained (630). This witness also testified that on the remodeling job which he did at that time, the remodeling plans and specifications were filed with the City, and approved, and a permit issued (629). This was the plan and the remodeling under City supervision, that existed there at the time that the lease in question was made. About Jan. 15, 1946, Mr. Paulson called in the Building Inspector to talk over the conditions, as mentioned in this letter, and the Inspector asked him to "send it to me in writing" (296).

Pursuant to this, the letter of Jan. 15, 1946 (Ex. 6), appears to have been written to the Inspector, and which contains substantially the same statements as to the drain and other conditions that were made to Mr. Wolfe in Ex. 7.

The next was in a letter from the Building Inspector to Mr. White, Jan. 22, 1946 (Ex. 2), in which the Inspector made the same statements, in almost the same lan-

guage, as to the structural defects, and in which he also said that he believed "this condition is not safe and should be corrected. In case of a heavy snow, it will be necessary to close the building from public use." The building was continuously occupied by the Stewart Novelty Company up to June 6, 1946 (802).

On March 11, 1946, respondent wrote to Mr. White (Ex. "I"), enclosing Mr. Paulson's letter to him (Ex. 7). This was apparently the first communication between them since the oral conversation of Nov. 19, 1945. This letter of March 12, 1946, states, "knowing how you feel about the subject, I hesitated to bring it to your attention," and added that the condition must eventually be corrected, and the best time to correct it was before the remodeling in June. That plans for "correcting it" should be made in advance. This letter also recited that he was expecting to spend considerably more, and up to three times the original estimate of \$10,000.00, for remodeling, and, "*I am sparing no expense to make this location the showplace of the West.*"

It then stated, "I grant that under conditions as they now exist I have a good lease," and added that appellant would be money ahead to make the permanent roof repairs now. He said that he believed it was appellants' responsibility.

On March 13, 1946, Mr. White wrote an answer (Ex. "J"), in which he stated that he was not complaining about the lease or the fact that the rent would be more if they were to rewrite a lease, and stated that he drew the

lease in the strongest way possible, so that appellants would have no further expense with the property, except “*Keeping*” the roof in repair. He stated that he did not have the lease before him, but if Mr. Wolfe would look at it, he “would find that it states definitely that you accept the premises in the condition they are in,” and that, “I feel . . . just as you rightfully are taking advantage of the low rental in the lease, you should not call upon me to alter the terms of the lease.” He added that he could not see that running the pipeline through the basement, as he had requested, was a roof repair, and that the rent “was fixed at the extraordinarily low figure of \$600.00 per month for the equivalent of four store rooms.” That it was realized that a lot of money would have to be spent, and that “It was because I didn’t want to go to the expense or trouble that I made you this low rental.”

On March 20, 1946, architect Paulson filed an application with the City Inspector for remodeling the front of the store.

On March 21, 1946, the Building Inspector (whose title had been changed) wrote a letter (Ex. “B”) to Mr. Paulson, referring to the application, and in which is repeated, almost word for word, the statements made in the previous letters by Mr. Paulson, and continually repeated by the Building Inspector, as to the insufficiency of the rafters and roof framing and the girders between the columns at the rear of the store. It was also stated that if the store “is to be under continued

occupancy this condition must be remedied and therefore your application is being held in abeyance until assurance is given that the roof condition will be taken care of. A plan showing your proposal will be expected." This letter states that Mr. White has been notified, and indicates that a copy of this letter was sent to him.

On April 1, 1946, Mr. Wolfe (Ex. "K") answered Mr. White's letter of March 13, 1946 (Ex. "J"). This letter makes no denial as to the discussion of the matters of low rental and acceptance of the building as it was, in view of reduced rentals, but does say that Mr. Wolfe is not satisfied that Mr. White's conclusions as to liability are impartial. He added that he had taken the matter up with his attorneys, and then makes a formal

"demand upon the lessors to *put* the roof of said premises in a safe and proper condition, to meet with the requirements of the Chief of Building Inspection of Salt Lake City, and also provide the proper drainage facilities for said roof.

"Unless prompt action is taken to remedy the conditions as set forth above, I will cause the proper work to be done to *make* the roof safe and in good condition, which is your responsibility under the lease, and will institute legal proceeding under the lease to compel lessors to pay for the cost of same and attorney fees."

Respondents' attorneys had "considerable to do" with drafting this demand (See Ex. "M").

It will be noticed that, commencing at about this time, or a little before this, respondents and their archi-

tect had determined that they would get the interior posts and construction out of this store entirely, and a full span bowstring steel structure installed. The evidence plainly indicates that they were determined to get such construction at the expense of the appellants. The further efforts were directed to this, and to collecting evidence of defects in the structure, as it had existed.

It should also be noted that, while the Building Inspector had requested assurance that the roof would be made safe, no such assurance was given by the architect filing the application, or at all.

On April 2, 1946, Mr. White wrote Mr. Wolfe (Ex. "L"), acknowledging his letter of April 1, 1946, and stated that he had examined the lease, and then quoted some language from the lease, and said:

"I suggest . . . that you send me an itemized statement of exactly the work you contend the lessors are obligated to do under their agreement to *keep* the roof in good condition and repair."

He also asked Mr. Wolfe if he would advise who his attorney is, so that he might talk to him.

On April 3, 1946, by letter (Ex. "M"), acknowledged Mr. White's letter, and said:

"With reference to the itemized statement which you request stating the exact work to be done *to make* the roof in good condition and repair, this can best be obtained by consulting with my architect Mr. A. B. Paulson, or by engaging some other competent building engineer or architect."

He also added that his attorneys were Rich, Rich and Strong, and that "Benj. L. Rich of this firm . . . had considerable voice in rendering the opinion referred to in my letter of April 1st."

Mr. Paulson testified that he probably did know that Mr. Wolfe, in his letter, had referred Mr. White to him (415). He also said that he may have made the statement, as testified to by Mr. Miller, in substance and effect that he "wanted to have a clear span and that was generally understood from the beginning, and that the expense of it was worth it to the store" (416). That he had "told Mr. Wolfe that it would be a shame to re-roof this thing without putting a clear span on it"; that he told him that "just prior to George Nelson laying out the bowstring truss" (416).

Mr. Wolfe testified that he determined, after this letter of April 1, 1946, to proceed with fixing the roof just as soon as he could get a permit (556). He also testified that he was the first to determine that he wanted the open span roof; that it was his idea (963).

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