1950

Hubert Wolfe, Shirley Wolfe, Elliott Wolfe, Kayla Wolfe, Merrill Strong, Wolfe's Department Store v. Sarah White and James L. White : Brief of Plaintiffs and Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE PLAINTIFFS WERE ENTITLED TO RECOVER.

In its decision herein, 197 Pac. (2) 125, this Court held that the plaintiffs' complaint stated a cause of action. The evidence established the allegations of the plaintiffs' complaint, and under the evidence the jury found for the plaintiffs. The jury's verdict established: (1) That the roof of the leased premises was not kept in good condition and repair by the defendants; (2) That the defendants failed and refused to keep said roof in good condition and repair; (3) That the defendants knew the roof was not in good condition and repair and failed to put it in good condition and repair; (4) That the plaintiffs adopted reasonable and necessary plans and methods to put the roof in good condition and repair, and that the amount found in item 1 of the verdict was the necessary and reasonable amount required to put the roof in good condition and repair as economically as possible, said amount being \$12,893.83;

and (5) That plaintiffs were damaged otherwise by the acts of the defendants by reason of having to pay rental on the old store in the sum of \$3900.00, and \$3,000.00 attorneys' fees.

The jury's verdict is supported by the testimony which establishes: That the lease was entered into February 19, 1945, but plaintiff had no duty or obligations and no rights thereunder until June 7, 1946; that for the entire term of the lease from February 19, 1945 to May 31, 1956, the lessors had the obligation to keep the roof of the leased premises in good condition and repair; that in January, 1946, the building authorities of Salt Lake City, Utah, notified the defendant James L. White in writing that the roof was not safe and that it must be made safe; that the defendants denied any obligation to make the roof safe or to rectify the conditions objected to by the public authorities of Salt Lake City; that the roof was in fact unsafe in January, 1946, and was not in good condition and repair at that time; that the plaintiffs repeatedly called to the attention of the defendants that the roof was not in good condition and repair in January, 1946, and thereafter, and called upon the defendants to fix the roof; that the defendants failed and refused to do so, although they had at least five months within which to undertake said work; that the plaintiffs thereupon submitted plans and proposals to the public authorities which were accepted and which were Code complying for fixing the roof and did fix the roof in the cheapest and most economical manner; that by reason of the failure and refusal of the defendants

to fix the roof the plaintiffs were damaged in the amounts shown by the verdict. That these amounts were expended and these losses incurred is not disputed and the foregoing evidence is without substantial conflict except that defendants make some argument that they made counter-proposals for fixing the roof on July 8, 1946, a month after plaintiffs should have been in possession of the premises, but the evidence shows that the proposals of the defendants were not acceptable to the public authorities, and defendants in fact did nothing at any time in actually fixing the roof, but did make suggestions that the plaintiffs do so; that defendants expected that the plaintiffs would go ahead and fix the roof. The decision of this Court established:

“The general rule is: In the absence of a covenant on the part of the lessee to repair the leased premises as required by public authority or to make alterations or improvements required by public authority, that obligation falls upon the shoulders of the landlord.” (P. 130.)

There was no such covenant on the part of the lessee, so it was defendants' obligation to comply with the requirements of the public authorities. Not only was there no obligation on the part of the lessee, but, as this Court said:

“The law in this case, we think, is strengthened by the terms of paragraph 8 specifically placing responsibility for the roof on the shoulders of the lessor.” (P. 131.)

This Court also pointed out:

“The lessees alleged that they were unable to get lessors to remedy the situation and therefore did the work themselves. They ask for reimbursement for those expenditures, for damages and attorneys’ fees. The letters from the Salt Lake City Bureau of Mechanical Inspection to lessees’ architect and to one of the lessees, from which we have quoted above, are incorporated as part of the pleadings. The lease is also made part of the pleadings.” (P. 130.)

The lessees proved and the jury found that “they were unable to get the lessors to remedy the situation, and therefore did the work themselves.” The evidence shows and the jury found the amount of lessees’ expenditures, damages and attorneys’ fees, and the jury’s verdict gave reimbursement to the plaintiffs for those items. The letters from the Salt Lake Bureau of Mechanical Inspection are in evidence, and the Superintendent of the Bureau of Mechanical Inspection and the City Inspector testified that the letters were true and that the condition of the roof was even worse than the letters indicated. This Court also said:

“It is to be noted that at no time in either of the letters is there any determination as to when the condition first developed or how long it had existed. The nature of the defect is not such as to indicate the time of its development. Approximately eleven months passed from the time of signing of the lease before any indication came

that there were defects in the roof.” (P. 130-131.)

The evidence shows that Mr. Miles Miller constructed the roof; that while he claims it was Code conforming at the time, he also admitted that it was not Code conforming now. The roof under present day standards is improperly constructed. When it commenced to sag is not known, but obviously it would not improve any with the passing of time. Neither party to the lease inspected the roof or knew of its condition at the time of the signing of the lease. In October of 1945, eight months after the signing of the lease, the defendant James L. White assured the plaintiff that the roof was in excellent shape, and one of his witnesses, B. T. Cannon, testified that at that time, October 1945, the roof was in good condition. Certainly it was not in good condition in the following January. If defendant and his own witness are to be believed, the sagging occurred in the interval. We alleged that in January, 1946, we first learned that the roof was actually dangerous and unsafe, and that it was not in good condition and repair in January, 1946, and became progressively worse so that when we were to take physical possession of the property the roof was unsafe and dangerous to life and limb. We set out the exact defects and then alleged:

“and on or about June 7, 1946, by reason of said conditions the roof had become dangerous and

unsafe. * * * *that plaintiffs do not know when the said roof first became dangerous and unsafe, but said unsafe condition became progressively worse from the date of the lease.*" (Italics added.)

These provisions of our complaint are quoted by this Court on page 131. This Court on the same page says:

"The pleadings obviously refer to conditions after the execution of the lease."

This definitely was established because at the time of the execution of the lease we didn't know anything about the condition of the roof, and our pleadings refer to conditions we discovered after the execution of the lease. This Court then points out that it was only for the last ten years of the lease that we had any obligation, which period would not commence until June 7, 1946, which would be more than five months after the discovery of the unsafe and dangerous conditions by us. The writer of the opinion was inclined to believe that the exception stated in paragraph 6 with regard to our obligations,

"is an exception to 'all improvements, upkeep and repairs of every kind and nature whatsoever, regardless of the extent thereof and whether the same be ordinary or extraordinary,' and would authorize, as an exclusion from this overall duty of the Lessees, the provisions of paragraph 8 (quoted) as to the roof. There is, however, a reason why it is unnecessary to decide this point."

The writer then proceeds to speak for the Court that the lessees' obligation did not mature until after May 31, 1946:

“The condition of the roof of which complaint is made developed prior to that time; and the obligation of correcting it arose prior to that time. With this provision out of the way by reason of its lack of maturity, we have a situation wherein at the time of the discovery of the defect the Lessees had not undertaken repairs or changes incident to any cause. The law we have cited above places the burden as to requirements by building authorities under such circumstances on the shoulders of the Lessor.” (P. 131.)

The Court then rejects defendants' contention that only ordinary repairs were contemplated, and calls attention to the fact that the lease provides that the roof shall be kept in good condition, but that even the word “repair” has a relative meaning.

“There is implicit in the maintenance of any part of a building the purpose for which that part is intended to function. * * * A faulty construction or remodeling of the roof may lead to quicker wearing out, but it doesn't change the meaning of 'repair'.” (P. 131-132.)

This Court thus has already squarely rejected the defendants' arguments (repeated and reasserted in their present brief), and has held squarely that it was the obligation of the defendants to put the roof in good

condition and to comply with the requirements of the public authorities; that at the time the requirements were made we had no obligations; that our obligations, if any, did not mature until months later, and that if we were unable to get lessors to remedy the situation and did the work ourselves, we had a right to reimbursement for those expenditures and for damages and attorneys' fees. This Court concludes:

“We are of the opinion that the demurrer to the complaint should have been overruled.”

We established all the allegations of our complaint. As a matter of fact, it makes no difference when the roof first got out of good condition and repair. The pertinent fact is that the lessors agreed that from February 19, 1945, until May 31, 1956, they would keep the roof in good condition and repair; that in January, 1946, and on June 7, 1946, when we were to take possession the roof was not in good condition and repair; expressly under the lease we had no duty with regard to the roof at either time. The defendants fail to point out whose duty it was to fix the roof in January, 1946. This Court has said it was their duty, and the evidence overwhelmingly establishes that it was not in good condition and repair. Having established all the allegations of our complaint, we have under the decision of this Court established our right to recover.

II. THE TRIAL COURT WAS IN ERROR IN REDUCING
ITEM 2 OF THE VERDICT FROM \$2400.00 TO \$1125.00
AND FROM ELIMINATING ITEM 3 OF \$1500.00 FROM
THE JUDGMENT.

In the complaint we prayed for the total sum of \$24,693.89, (T. 7). We did not segregate the damage but asked for that amount which included all damages and attorneys' fees. For the sake of convenience we itemized these damages in Exhibit "D-1" to show that the actual cost of the roof was \$13,477.89, and the actual damage to us by having to pay rent on the old store when we should have been in the new store was \$5,481.84, consisting of rental paid while still occupying the premises of 3 months base rental of \$1125.00 plus \$2856.84 percentage rental, and \$1500.00 base rental for the 4 months we had to pay after we vacated, and that the attorneys' fees were \$3,000.00. There was no legal principle that required us thus to separately state these damages. Those items all come under the same rule of damages, and they were set up thusly merely for convenience in understanding of what they consisted. The fact that the court segregated them in the verdict to the jury in the same manner we had listed them in the Exhibit "D-1", which was only for the purpose of itemization and distinguishing the various periods, does not change the rule of law which was correctly announced by the court in instruction No. 14, (T. 154), that if we were prevented from occupying the store and by reason thereof were compelled to pay monthly and excess percentage rent and lost an opportunity to sublease the

store, we should be allowed such damages as naturally and directly flowed from the breach of their covenant by the defendants. The Court also directed the jury that such damages also must be such as the parties would reasonably have contemplated, if, at the time the lease was made, their attention had been called to the natural and direct consequences of such a breach of such covenant of the lease. This latter instruction put more of a burden on us than proper, but the jury found for us anyway. In the form of verdict the court segregated the damages in accordance with the itemization of Exhibit "D-1". In instruction No. 14 the court also segregated the items, but while there are three segregations, (items 2, 3 and 4), there are only two sums to be accounted for—(1) the monthly rental for the old store actually paid in base and excess percentage rental while we were in occupation, and (2) for rental for 4 months when we were not in occupation and which we paid. We were unable to sublease because we couldn't put the subtenants into possession timely. The rent actually paid while in occupation is covered by items 2 and 4 of the verdict. The rent while we were not in occupation is item 3 of the verdict. The jury returned a verdict for \$2,400.00 under item No. 2 of the verdict "with respect to additional monthly rental on the old store we render our verdict in favor of the plaintiffs and against the defendants in the sum of \$2,400.00", as distinguished from item 3 of \$1500.00 "with respect to loss of rental and loss of opportunity to sub-lease the old store." The only period we could sublease was the

four months we were not in occupation. It is quite obvious that the jury intended to allow us under item 2 more than merely the base rental of \$375.00 a month for August, September and October, and that the difference between \$1125.00 base rental for those months and \$2400.00, to-wit, \$1,275.00, was the jury's idea of how much of the percentage rentals we should be allowed to recover because after allowing us the \$2,400.00 in item No. 2, which is in excess of the base rentals of \$375.00 a month, they allowed us nothing for the percentage rentals. This was perfectly proper under the evidence because we actually did pay \$2,400.00, to-wit, \$3,981.84, additional monthly rental on the old store while we were in actual occupation. By allowing us the \$2,400.00 in item No. 2 and not allowing us anything in item No. 4 the jury indicated and returned a verdict in our favor for that amount as distinguished from our damages by reason of our inability to sublease the premises for the months of November, December, January and February, at \$375.00 a month, when we were not in occupation, which sum they allowed us in item No. 3 of the verdict in the sum of \$1500.00.

We contend, therefore, that it was the duty of the trial court when the jury brought in the verdict in the manner they did to have segregated the amounts himself if that was desireable, although such a segregation was not necessary. Whether the rental was paid as a base rental or as a percentage rental, it was all for the same period and is recoverable under the same rule of damages. The court had the right, if such a segrega-

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